EVIDENCE IN NEW YORK STATE AND FEDERAL COURTS SECOND EDITION

Volume 5

 $\mathbf{B}\mathbf{y}$

ROBERT A. BARKER VINCENT C. ALEXANDER



A Thomson Reuters business

For Customer Assistance Call 1-800-328-4880

© 2011 Thomson Reuters

For authorization to photocopy, please contact the **Copyright Clearance Center** at 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923, USA (978) 750-8400; fax (978) 646-8600 or **West's Copyright Services** at 610 Opperman Drive, Eagan, MN 55123, fax (651) 687-7551. Please outline the specific material involved, the number of copies you wish to distribute and the purpose or format of the use.

This publication was created to provide you with accurate and authoritative information concerning the subject matter covered; however, this publication was not necessarily prepared by persons licensed to practice law in a particular jurisdiction. The publisher is not engaged in rendering legal or other professional advice and this publication is not a substitute for the advice of an attorney. If you require legal or other expert advice, you should seek the services of a competent attorney or other professional.

This is Volume

5

of

WEST'S NEW YORK PRACTICE SERIES

Walker, et al., New York Limited Li-Vol. 1 ability Companies and Partnerships: A Guide to Law and Practice Haig, et al., Commercial Litigation in Vols. 2-4D New York State Courts Vols. 5, 5A Barker and Alexander, Evidence in New York State and Federal Courts Greenberg, Marcus, et al., New York Vol. 6 Criminal Law Vol. 7 Marks, et al., New York Pretrial Criminal Procedure Vol. 8 Davies, Stecich, Gold, et al., New York Civil Appellate Practice Vols. 9, 9A Ginsberg, Weinberg, et al., Environmental Law and Regulation in New York

Vol. 10	Sobie, et al., New York Family Court Practice
Vols. 11-12	Scheinkman, et al., New York Law of Domestic Relations
Vol. 13	Taber, et al., Employment Litigation in New York
Vol. 13A	Stiller, Employment Law in New York
Vols. 14-16	Kreindler, Rodriguez, et al., New York Law of Torts
Vols. 20-25	Ostertag, Benson, et al., General Practice in New York
Vol. 26	Borchers, Markell, New York State Administrative Procedure and Practice
Vol. 27	Minkowitz, New York Workers' Compensation
Vol. 28	Banks, New York Contract Law
Vol. 29	Finley and Handelman, New York Summary Judgment and Related Termination Motions
Vol. 30	Merritt, New York Elements of an Action
Vol. 31	Payne and Wilson, New York Insurance Law
Vol. 33	Rubin, Biser and Brown, New York Construction Law Manual
Vol. 34	Bowmar, Mechanics' Liens in New York
Vol. 35	Ko and Taranto, Mortgage Liens in New York
Vol. 36	Ko, Lien Priorities in New York
Vol. A	Borges, et al., Enforcing Judgments and Collecting Debts in New York

WEST'S NEW YORK PRACTICE SERIES

Vols. B-C	Bensel, Frank, McKeon, et al., Personal Injury Practice in New York
Vols. D-E	Preminger, et al., Trusts and Estates Practice in New York
Vols. F-H	Finkelstein and Ferrara, Landlord and Tenant Practice in New York

Dedication

TO

Ellen, who has provided great support. R.A.B.

My wife Nancy. V.C.A.

Preface to Second Edition

This edition of the book, like its predecessor, presents New York evidence law in a modern analytical framework. It contains a complete exposition of the law of evidence in New York, followed by a summary of the corresponding law under the Federal Rules of Evidence. In the federal sections of the book, special emphasis is given to the rulings of the United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit. This parallel arrangement of state and federal law not only facilitates trial practice in both court systems but also provides a quick and ready source of potential guidance for the resolution of unsettled or evolving issues under New York law.

As it is, the law of evidence in New York consists of a mix of rules derived from caselaw, Article 45 of the Civil Practice Law and Rules (CPLR), Article 60 of the Criminal Procedure Law (CPL), and other scattered statutes and rules. For the most part, this edition eliminates comparisons to the proposed New York Evidence Code, which was last submitted to the Legislature during the 1991-1992 session. In the intervening years, the proposed Code has had little influence on the evolution of New York evidence law, and the Legislature has shown no interest in adopting the Code.

In this edition, we have incorporated material appearing in the annual pocket parts from 2001 to 2010 as well as new developments during 2011. The burgeoning decisional law, especially in the areas of expert testimony, hearsay, and the right of confrontation, has led us to revise and expand relevant sections of the book. In addition, the book contains all recent amendments to the Federal Rules of Evidence, including their restyling, which is expected to take effect December 1, 2011. The restyling is discussed in greater detail in § 1:1.

We are grateful to those who have assisted in the production of this edition. At Albany Law School, Sherri Meyer's secretarial services were invaluable, and equal appreciation is extended to Deborah Kelly, head of Secretarial Services at St. John's. Also at St. John's, Dean's Fellow Steven Saal provided outstanding research assistance.

Robert A. Barker Vincent C. Alexander

About the Authors

Robert A. Barker is Professor Emeritus of Law at Albany Law School, Union University. He is a former Associate Dean of the Law School and Executive Director of the New York State Law Revision Commission. He coordinated the original study and proposal for the New York Code of Evidence. For many years he authored the evidence article for the Annual Survey of New York Law. Additionally, for many years, he was a lecturer on evidence, with Dean Jerome Prince, at the annual New York State Judicial Seminars. He is co-author, with Oscar Chase, of *Civil Litigation in New York* (4th ed), and, for 13 years he wrote the New York Practice column for the *New York Law Journal*. Professor Barker received both his undergraduate and law degrees from Syracuse University.

Vincent C. Alexander is the Charles M. Sparacio Professor of Law at St. John's University School of Law. He is an author of the Practice Commentaries on the Civil Practice Law and Rules in McKinney's Consolidated Laws of New York Annotated and a frequent lecturer on Evidence and New York Practice for bar groups and judges. He is a former columnist on New York Practice for the New York Law Journal and former editor of the Second Circuit Redbook of the Federal Bar Council. Professor Alexander is a member of the Civil Practice Advisory Committee for the Chief Administrative Judge of the State of New York and former member of the state's Continuing Legal Education Board. He holds degrees from Yale University (B.A.), St. John's University (J.D.) and Columbia University (LL.M. and J.S.D.).

WestlawNext™

THE NEXT GENERATION OF ONLINE RESEARCH

WestlawNext is the world's most advanced legal research system. By leveraging more than a century of information and legal analysis from Westlaw, this easy-to-use system not only helps you find the information you need quickly, but offers time-saving tools to organize and annotate your research online. As with Westlaw.com, WestlawNext includes the editorial enhancements (e.g., case headnotes, topics, key numbers) that make it a perfect complement to West print resources.

- FIND ANYTHING by entering citations, descriptive terms, or Boolean terms and connectors into the WestSearch™ box at the top of every page.
- USE KEYCITE® to determine whether a case, statute, regulation, or administrative decision is good law.
- · BROWSE DATABASES right from the home page.
- · SAVE DOCUMENTS to folders and add notes and highlighting online.

SIGN ON: next.westlaw.com

LEARN MORE: West.Thomson.com/WestlawNext FOR HELP: 1–800–WESTLAW (1–800–937–8529)

*

Summary of Contents

Volume 5

Chapter 1.	General Principles
Chapter 2.	Judicial Notice
Chapter 3.	Burden of Proof and Presumptions
Chapter 4.	Relevancy
Chapter 5.	Privileges
Chapter 6.	Witnesses

Volume 5A

- Chapter 7. Opinions and Expert Testimony
- Chapter 8. Hearsay
- Chapter 9. Authentication & Identification
- Chapter 10. Best Evidence
- Chapter 11. Real and Demonstrative Evidence

Table of Laws and Rules

Table of Cases

Index

Volume 5

CHAPTER 1. GENERAL PRINCIPLES

I. INTRODUCTION

- § 1:1 Overview and organization of book
- § 1:2 Definitions: New York and Federal

II. RULINGS ON EVIDENCE

- § 1:3 New York
- § 1:4 —Objections and motions to strike
- § 1:5 —General vs. specific objections
- § 1:6 —Offer of proof and offer "to connect up"
- § 1:7 —Motions in limine
- § 1:8 —Harmless error
- § 1:9 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 103)
- § 1:10 —Objections and motions to strike
- § 1:11 —General vs. specific objections
- § 1:12 —Offer of proof and offer to "connect up"
- § 1:13 —Motions in limine
- § 1:14 —Harmless error

III. PRELIMINARY QUESTIONS

- § 1:15 New York
- § 1:16 —Respective responsibilities of judge and jury, in general
- § 1:17 —Admissions; confessions; illegally seized evidence; privileges
- § 1:18 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 104)

IV. LIMITED ADMISSIBILITY

- § 1:19 New York
- § 1:20 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 105)

V. RULE OF COMPLETENESS

- § 1:21 New York
- § 1:22 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 106)

CHAPTER 2. JUDICIAL NOTICE

I. INTRODUCTION

§ 2:1 Judicial notice, in general

II. JUDICIAL NOTICE OF ADJUDICATIVE FACTS

- § 2:2 New York
- § 2:3 —Facts subject to judicial notice
- § 2:4 —Examples
- § 2:5 —Procedure
- § 2:6 —Effect of taking judicial notice
- § 2:7 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 201)

III. JUDICIAL NOTICE OF LEGISLATIVE FACTS

§ 2:8 New York and Federal

IV. JUDICIAL NOTICE OF LAW

- § 2:9 New York
- § 2:10 Federal

CHAPTER 3. BURDEN OF PROOF AND PRESUMPTIONS

I. BURDEN OF PROOF

- § 3:1 Burden of proof, in general
- § 3:2 Allocation of burden of proof, in general
- § 3:3 Satisfying the burden of production
- § 3:4 —New York: test for sufficiency
- § 3:5 —New York: Shifting of the burden of production
- § 3:6 —Federal
- § 3:7 Satisfying the burden of persuasion
- § 3:8 —Civil cases: New York
- § 3:9 ——Preponderance of the evidence
- § 3:10 ——Clear and convincing evidence
- § 3:11 —Civil cases: federal
- § 3:12 —Criminal cases: New York
- $\S 3:13$ ——Reasonable doubt
- $\S 3:14$ ——Defenses and affirmative defenses
- § 3:15 —Criminal cases: federal

II. PRESUMPTIONS IN CIVIL CASES

§ 3:16 New York

- § 3:17 Meaning of a presumption
- § 3:18 Rebuttable presumptions
- § 3:19 Reasons for presumptions; illustrative presumptions
- § 3:20 Effect of presumptions in New York
- § 3:21 —Thayer (the "bursting bubble" rule)
- § 3:22 —Morgan
- § 3:23 —New York approach
- § 3:24 Res ipsa loquitur
- § 3:25 Prima facie evidence
- § 3:26 Effect of presumptions in federal proceedings
- § 3:27 —Cases governed by federal law (Fed. R. Evid. 301)
- § 3:28 —Cases governed by state law (Fed. R. Evid. 302)

III. PRESUMPTIONS IN CRIMINAL CASES

- § 3:29 New York
- § 3:30 —Constitutional restraints
- § 3:31 —New York approach
- § 3:32 Federal

CHAPTER 4. RELEVANCY

I. INTRODUCTION

§ 4:1 New York and federal: introduction

II. RELEVANCY

A. NEW YORK

- § 4:2 Definition of relevance, generally
- § 4:3 Probability
- § 4:4 Specific applications—Flight and suppression of evidence
- § 4:5 —Failure to call witness
- § 4:6 —Missing documents
- § 4:7 —Third-party culpability
- § 4:8 Factors precluding admissibility of relevant evidence: prejudice and exclusionary rules

B. FEDERAL

§ 4:9 Federal Rules of Evidence 401, 402, 403

III. CHARACTER EVIDENCE

- § 4:10 New York
- § 4:11 —Character in issue

EVIDENCE IN NEW YORK STATE AND FEDERAL COURTS

- § 4:12 —Character evidence as proof of conduct in civil cases
- § 4:13 —Character evidence as proof of conduct in criminal cases
- § 4:14 —Effect of character evidence: jury charge
- § 4:15 —Character trait of the victim in a homicide case
- § 4:16 —Character evidence used to impeach, generally
- § 4:17 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 404, 405)

IV. UNCHARGED CRIMES

- § 4:18 New York
- § 4:19 —Motive
- § 4:20 —Intent
- § 4:21 —Absence of accident or mistake
- § 4:22 —Common scheme or plan
- § 4:23 —Identity
- § 4:24 —Background
- § 4:25 —Inextricably intertwined
- § 4:26 —Multiple counts
- § 4:27 —Sex cases: "amorous design"
- § 4:28 —Rebuttal
- § 4:29 —Civil cases
- § 4:30 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 404(b))
- § 4:31 —Generally
- § 4:32 —Procedure
- § 4:33 —Civil cases

V. SIMILAR OCCURRENCES

- § 4:34 New York
- § 4:35 —Other accidents
- § 4:36 —Other business transactions
- § 4:37 —Sales of property
- § 4:38 Federal—Other accidents
- § 4:39 —Other business transactions
- § 4:40 —Sales of property

VI. HABIT AND CUSTOM

- § 4:41 New York
- § 4:42 —Business and professional habit
- § 4:43 —Habit evidence in the workplace
- § 4:44 —Habit in negligence cases; non-workplace situations
- § 4:45 —Eyewitnesses
- § 4:46 —Custom and usage as a standard of care
- § 4:47 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 406)
- § 4:48 —Business and professional habit

- § 4:49 —Evidence of habit in negligence cases
- § 4:50 Federal—Custom and usage as a standard of care

VII. SUBSEQUENT REMEDIAL MEASURES

- § 4:51 New York
- § 4:52 —Negligence
- § 4:53 —Products liability
- § 4:54 —Feasibility exception
- § 4:55 —Ownership, control and impeachment
- § 4:56 —Criminal cases
- § 4:57 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 407)

VIII. COMPROMISES AND OFFERS TO COMPROMISE

- § 4:58 New York
- § 4:59 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 408)

IX. PAYMENT OF MEDICAL AND SIMILAR EXPENSES

- § 4:60 New York
- § 4:61 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 409)

X. PLEAS AND PLEA DISCUSSIONS

- § 4:62 New York
- § 4:63 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 410)

XI. LIABILITY INSURANCE

- § 4:64 New York
- § 4:65 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 411)

XII. SHIELD LAWS

- § 4:66 New York
- § 4:67 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 412)

XIII. DEFENDANT'S SEXUAL HISTORY

§ 4:68 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 413, 414, 415)

CHAPTER 5. PRIVILEGES

I. INTRODUCTION

§ 5:1 New York

§ 5:2 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 501)

II. ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGE AND WORK PRODUCT

- § 5:3 Attorney-client privilege: New York
- § 5:4 —Attorney-client relationship
- § 5:5 —Communications
- § 5:6 —Legal advice
- § 5:7 —Confidentiality
- § 5:8 —Application in the corporate and government context
- § 5:9 —Exceptions
- § 5:10 —Waiver
- § 5:11 Attorney-client privilege: Federal
- § 5:12 Work product immunities
- § 5:13 —New York
- § 5:14 ——Civil cases
- § 5:15 ——Criminal cases
- § 5:16 ——Waiver
- § 5:17 —Federal

III. PHYSICIAN-PATIENT AND RELATED PRIVILEGES

- § 5:18 New York
- § 5:19 —Scope of the physician-patient privilege
- § 5:20 —Waiver
- § 5:21 —Exceptions
- § 5:22 —Psychologists
- § 5:23 Federal

IV. SPOUSAL PRIVILEGES

- § 5:24 Spousal privileges: New York
- § 5:25 Incompetency in adultery cases
- § 5:26 Privilege for confidential communications
- § 5:27 —Confidentiality
- § 5:28 —Induced by the marital relationship
- § 5:29 —Communication made during the marriage
- § 5:30 —Waiver
- § 5:31 —Exceptions
- § 5:32 New York: parent-child privilege
- § 5:33 Spousal privileges: federal
- § 5:34 —Testimonial privilege
- § 5:35 —Marital communications privilege

V. COMMUNICATIONS WITH CLERGY PRIVILEGE

- § 5:36 New York
- § 5:37 Federal

VI. SOCIAL WORKER PRIVILEGE

- § 5:38 New York
- § 5:39 Federal

VII. RAPE CRISIS COUNSELOR

- § 5:40 New York
- § 5:41 Federal

VIII. LIBRARY RECORDS

- § 5:42 New York
- § 5:43 Federal

IX. JOURNALIST PRIVILEGE

- § 5:44 New York
- § 5:45 Federal

X. SELF-INCRIMINATION

- § 5:46 New York State and federal—Civil cases
- § 5:47 —Criminal proceedings
- § 5:48 ——Testimony
- § 5:49 ——Documents
- § 5:50 —Application of the privilege during the investigation stage: connection to the trial

XI. THE INFORMER PRIVILEGE

- § 5:51 New York
- § 5:52 Federal

XII. GOVERNMENT COMMUNICATIONS

- § 5:53 New York
- § 5:54 Federal

XIII. POLITICAL VOTE

- § 5:55 New York
- § 5:56 Federal

XIV. TRADE SECRETS

§ 5:57 New York

§ 5:58 Federal rule

XV. COMMENT UPON OR INFERENCE FROM CLAIM OF PRIVILEGE

- § 5:59 New York
- § 5:60 Federal

CHAPTER 6. WITNESSES

I. INTRODUCTION

§ 6:1 Overview

II. GENERAL RULE OF COMPETENCY

- § 6:2 New York
- § 6:3 —Interest
- § 6:4 —Spouses of parties
- § 6:5 —Convictions
- § 6:6 —Children
- § 6:7 —Mental, sensory or communicative infirmities
- § 6:8 —Alcohol and drugs
- § 6:9 —Hypnotically induced memory
- § 6:10 New York Dead Man's Statute
- § 6:11 —Disqualified witnesses
- § 6:12 —Protected persons
- § 6:13 —Prohibited subject matter
- § 6:14 —Exceptions
- § 6:15 —Waiver
- § 6:16 —Inapplicability before trial
- § 6:17 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 601)

III. PERSONAL KNOWLEDGE

- § 6:18 New York
- § 6:19 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 602)

IV. OATH OR AFFIRMATION

- § 6:20 New York
- § 6:21 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 603)

V. INTERPRETERS

- § 6:22 New York
- § 6:23 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 604)

VI.	JUDGE'S	COMPETENCY	AS WITNESS

- § 6:24 New York
- § 6:25 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 605)

VII. JUROR'S COMPETENCY AS WITNESS

- § 6:26 New York
- § 6:27 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 606)

VIII. IMPEACHMENT AND REHABILITATION OF WITNESSES

- § 6:28 Credibility of witness: New York and federal
- § 6:29 Impeachment of witness, in general: New York and federal
- § 6:30 Contradiction; collateral and noncollateral matters: New York and federal
- § 6:31 Impeachment of one's own witness
- § 6:32 —New York, in general
- § 6:33 —New York exception for prior inconsistent statements
- § 6:34 —Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 607)
- § 6:35 Support and rehabilitation of credibility of witness
- § 6:36 —New York
- § 6:37 ——Advance accreditation
- § 6:38 ——Rehabilitation
- § 6:39 ———Explanation
- § 6:40 ———Good character for truthfulness
- § 6:41 ———Prior consistent statements
- § 6:42 —Federa
- § 6:43 Impeachment by bias and similar forms of partiality
- § 6:44 —New York
- § 6:45 —Federal
- § 6:46 Impeachment by mental or sensory impairment
- § 6:47 —New York
- § 6:48 —Federal
- § 6:49 Impeachment by prior inconsistent statements
- § 6:50 —New York
- § 6:51 ——Nature of the inconsistency
- § 6:52 ——Foundation requirements; extrinsic evidence
- § 6:53 —Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 613)

IX. IMPEACHMENT BY EVIDENCE OF UNTRUTHFUL CHARACTER AND PRIOR MISCONDUCT

§ 6:54 In general

§ 6:55 Bad character for truthfulness
 § 6:56 —New York
 § 6:57 —Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 608(a))
 § 6:58 Prior acts of misconduct
 § 6:59 —New York
 § 6:60 —Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 608(b))

X. IMPEACHMENT BY EVIDENCE OF CRIMINAL CONVICTIONS

- § 6:61 New York
- § 6:62 —Civil cases
- § 6:63 —Criminal cases
- § 6:64 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 609)

XI. RELIGIOUS BELIEFS OR OPINIONS

- § 6:65 New York
- § 6:66 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 610)

XII. PRESENTATION OF TESTIMONY

- § 6:67 New York
- § 6:68 —Order of trial and presentation of testimony
- § 6:69 —Form of questioning
- § 6:70 ——Leading questions
- § 6:71 —Cross-examination
- § 6:72 ——Scope of cross-examination
- § 6:73 ——Judicial discretion
- § 6:74 ——Voir dire of the witness
- § 6:75 —Redirect and recross examination
- § 6:76 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 611)
- § 6:77 —Order of trial
- § 6:78 —Form of questioning
- § 6:79 —Cross-examination, redirect and recross

XIII. REFRESHING THE WITNESS' RECOLLECTION

- § 6:80 New York
- § 6:81 —Adversary's right of inspection
- § 6:82 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 612)

XIV. CALLING AND QUESTIONING OF WITNESSES BY THE COURT OR JURY

§ 6:83 New York

- § 6:84 —Calling of witnesses by the court
- § 6:85 —Judicial questioning of witnesses
- § 6:86 —Questioning by jurors
- § 6:87 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 614)

XV. EXCLUSION OF WITNESSES FROM THE COURTROOM

- § 6:88 New York
- § 6:89 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 615)

Volume 5A

CHAPTER 7. OPINIONS AND EXPERT TESTIMONY

I. OPINION TESTIMONY: INTRODUCTION

§ 7:1 New York and federal

II. OPINION TESTIMONY BY LAY WITNESSES

- § 7:2 New York
- § 7:3 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 701)

III. EXPERT TESTIMONY

- § 7:4 New York
- § 7:5 —Novel scientific theories and methods
- § 7:6 —Recurring problems of expert testimony
- § 7:7 —"Interested observer"
- § 7:8 —Qualifications
- § 7:9 —Impeachment of experts
- § 7:10 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 702)
- § 7:11 —Judicial scrutiny of reliability under *Daubert* and *Kumho*

IV. BASIS OF EXPERT OPINION TESTIMONY

- § 7:12 New York
- § 7:13 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 703)

V. OPINION ON ULTIMATE ISSUES

- § 7:14 New York
- § 7:15 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 704)

VI. DISCLOSURE OF FACTS AND DATA UNDERLYING EXPERT OPINION

- § 7:16 New York
- § 7:17 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 705)

VII. COURT-APPOINTED EXPERTS

- § 7:18 New York
- § 7:19 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 706)

CHAPTER 8. HEARSAY

I. HEARSAY, NEW YORK AND FEDERAL— GENERALLY

A. INTRODUCTION

- § 8:1 Nature of hearsay: New York and federal (Fed. R. Evid. 801)
- § 8:2 —Assertions
- § 8:3 —Legally operative words (verbal acts)
- § 8:4 —State of mind
- § 8:5 —Indirect hearsay
- § 8:6 The right to confrontation—The *Crawford* rule, New York and Federal

B. STATEMENTS CODIFIED AS "NOT HEARSAY"

1. Introduction

- § 8:7 Generally
 - 2. New York
- § 8:8 Inconsistent statements of a witness
- § 8:9 Prior consistent statements of a witness

3. Federal

- \S 8:10 Inconsistent statements of a witenss (Fed. R. Evid. 801(d)(1)(A))
- § 8:11 Prior consistent statements of a witness (Fed. R. Evid. 801(d)(1)(B))

C. PRIOR IDENTIFICATION

- § 8:12 New York—Witness' prior identification of a person
- \$ 8:13 Federal—Witness' prior identification of a person (Fed. R. Evid. 801(d)(1)(C))

II. ADMISSIONS

§ 8:14 New York and federal: introduction

- § 8:15 Party's statement: New York
- § 8:16 —Admission by a party's conduct
- § 8:17 —Admissions by silence
- § 8:18 —Privity
- § 8:19 —Representative capacity
- § 8:20 —Adoptive admissions
- § 8:21 —Statements by the party's agent or servant
- § 8:22 —Coconspirator's statements
- § 8:23 Party's statement: federal (Fed. R. Evid. 801(d)(2))
- § 8:24 Party's statement: federal—Judicial admissions
- § 8:25 —Admissions by a party, by statements, acts, adoption or in a representative capacity
- § 8:26 —Statements made by an agent or servant, and statements otherwise authorized
- § 8:27 —Coconspirator's statements

III. HEARSAY EXCEPTIONS WHERE AVAILABILITY OF THE DECLARANT IS IMMATERIAL

A. OVERVIEW

- § 8:28 New York and federal, in general
 - B. SPONTANEOUS STATEMENTS, STATEMENTS EVIDENCING A STATE OF MIND OR PHYSICAL CONDITION, AND STATEMENTS MADE FOR PURPOSES OF MEDICAL DIAGNOSIS OR TREATMENT
- § 8:29 New York
- § 8:30 —Present sense impression
- § 8:31 —Excited utterance
- § 8:32 —State of mind or physical condition (Fed. R. Evid. 803)
- § 8:33 —Statements made for purposes of medical treatment or diagnosis
- § 8:34 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 803)
- § 8:35 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 803(1))—Present sense impression
- § 8:36 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 803(2))—Excited utterance
- § 8:37 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 803(3))—State of mind or physical condition
- § 8:38 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 803(4))—Statements made for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment

C. RECORDED RECOLLECTION

§ 8:39 New York

§ 8:40 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 803(5))

D. REGULARLY KEPT RECORDS

- § 8:41 New York—Business records: general principles
- § 8:42 —Agency documents offered by the prosecution in criminal cases
- § 8:43 —Hospital records, government records, and other records admissible upon certification
- § 8:44 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 803(6))

E. ABSENCE OF RECORD

- § 8:45 New York—Absence of business records
- § 8:46 —Absence of public record
- § 8:47 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 803(7))—Absence of business record

F. PUBLIC RECORDS

- § 8:48 New York
- § 8:49 —Common law exception for public records
- § 8:50 —Certificate of public officer (CPLR 4520)
- § 8:51 —Investigatory reports made by government agencies
- § 8:52 —Ancient maps and real property records
- § 8:53 —Records of sister state real property conveyances
- § 8:54 —Marriage certificates
- § 8:55 —Presumption of death or of being missing
- § 8:56 —Birth and death certificates
- § 8:57 —Weather records
- § 8:58 —Agriculture inspection certificates
- § 8:59 —Certificate of population
- § 8:60 —Surveyor's standard
- § 8:61 —Justice of the peace proceedings
- § 8:62 —Certified report of absence of public record
- § 8:63 —Criminal judgments of conviction
- § 8:64 —Records of religious organizations
- § 8:65 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 803(8))—Public records, in general
- § 8:66 —Vital statistics
- § 8:67 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 803(14) and 803(15))—Documents affecting interests in property
- § 8:68 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 803(22) and 803(23))—Judgment of previous conviction; judgment as proof of family history and boundaries
- § 8:69 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 803(10))—Absence of public record
- § 8:70 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 803(11) and 803(12))—Records of religious organizations

G. LEARNED TREATISES, MARKET REPORTS AND COMMERCIAL PUBLICATIONS

- § 8:71 New York
- § 8:72 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 803(18))

H. ANCIENT DOCUMENTS, AND REPUTATION

1. New York

- § 8:73 Family records
- § 8:74 —Ancient documents
- § 8:75 —Reputation

2. Federal

- § 8:76 Family records (Fed. R. Evid. 803(13))
- § 8:77 Ancient documents (Fed. R. Evid. 803(16))
- § 8:78 Reputation (Fed. R. Evid. 803(19)–(21))

IV. HEARSAY STATEMENTS ADMISSIBLE IF DECLARANT UNAVAILABLE

A. OVERVIEW

§ 8:79 Unavailability: New York and federal

B. FORMER TESTIMONY

- § 8:80 New York
- § 8:81 —Civil cases
- § 8:82 —Criminal cases
- § 8:83 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 804(b)(1))

C. DYING DECLARATIONS

- § 8:84 New York
- § 8:85 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 804(b)(2))

D. DECLARATIONS AGAINST INTEREST

- § 8:86 New York
- § 8:87 —Civil cases
- § 8:88 —Criminal cases
- § 8:89 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 804(b)(3))

E. PEDIGREE

- § 8:90 New York
- § 8:91 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 804(b)(4))

F. RESIDUAL HEARSAY EXCEPTION

- § 8:92 New York
- § 8:93 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 807)

V. HEARSAY WITHIN HEARSAY

- § 8:94 New York
- § 8:95 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 805)

VI. ATTACKING AND SUPPORTING DECLARANT'S CREDIBILITY

§ 8:96 New York and federal (Fed. R. Evid. 806)

VII. ADMISSIBILITY OF HEARSAY WHERE PARTY CAUSES DECLARANT'S UNAVAILABILITY

§ 8:97 New York and federal (Fed. R. Evid. 804(b)(6))

CHAPTER 9. AUTHENTICATION & IDENTIFICATION

I. INTRODUCTION

§ 9:1 Authentication and identification in general: New York and federal

II. COMMON INSTANCES REQUIRING AUTHENTICATION OR IDENTIFICATION

- A. INTRODUCTION
- § 9:2 Introduction: common instances
 - B. TESTIMONY OF WITNESS WITH KNOWLEDGE
- § 9:3 New York
- § 9:4 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 901(b)(1))

C. LAY OPINION ON HANDWRITING

- § 9:5 New York
- § 9:6 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 901(b)(2))

D. COMPARISONS BY TRIER OR EXPERT WITNESS

§ 9:7 New York

§ 9:8 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 901(b)(3))

E. CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE OF AUTHENTICITY

- § 9:9 New York
- § 9:10 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 901(b)(4))

F. VOICE IDENTIFICATION

- § 9:11 New York
- § 9:12 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 901(b)(5))

G. TELEPHONE CONVERSATIONS

- § 9:13 New York
- § 9:14 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 901(b)(6))

H. PUBLIC RECORDS

- § 9:15 New York
- § 9:16 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 901(b)(7))

I. ANCIENT DOCUMENTS

- § 9:17 New York
- § 9:18 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 901(b)(8))

J. PROCESS OR SYSTEM

- § 9:19 New York
- § 9:20 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 901(b)(9))

K. METHODS PROVIDED BY STATUTE OR RULE

- § 9:21 New York
- § 9:22 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 901(b)(10))

III. SELF-AUTHENTICATION

- § 9:23 Self-authentication
- $\S 9:24$ —New York
- § 9:25 —Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 902)

IV. SUBSCRIBING WITNESSES

§ 9:26 Subscribing witnesses: New York and federal (Fed. R. Evid. 903)

CHAPTER 10. BEST EVIDENCE

I. BEST EVIDENCE

- § 10:1 Best evidence rule: New York and federal
- § 10:2 —Federal Rule of Evidence 1001: definitions

II. ORIGINALS

§ 10:3 Originals: New York and federal (Fed. R. Evid. 1002)

III. DUPLICATES

§ 10:4 Duplicates: New York and federal (Fed. R. Evid. 1003)

IV. SECONDARY EVIDENCE

- § 10:5 Secondary evidence: New York and federal (Fed. R. Evid. 1004)
- § 10:6 —Loss or destruction
- § 10:7 —Original not obtainable
- § 10:8 —Original in possession of opponent
- § 10:9 —Collateral matters

V. PUBLIC RECORDS

- § 10:10 New York
- § 10:11 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 1005)

VI. SUMMARIES

- § 10:12 Summaries: New York
- § 10:13 Summaries: Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 1006)

VII. TESTIMONY OR WRITTEN ADMISSION OF PARTY

§ 10:14 Admission as to contents: New York and federal (Fed. R. Evid. 1007)

VIII. FUNCTIONS OF COURT AND JURY

- § 10:15 New York
- § 10:16 Federal

CHAPTER 11. REAL AND DEMONSTRATIVE EVIDENCE

I. INTRODUCTION

§ 11:1 Real and demonstrative evidence, in general: New York and federal

II. TANGIBLE OBJECTS

- § 11:2 New York
- § 11:3 Federal

III. PERSONS: PHYSICAL FEATURES, INJURIES AND THEIR EFFECTS

- § 11:4 New York
- § 11:5 Federal

IV. DRAWINGS, DIAGRAMS, AND MODELS

- § 11:6 New York
- § 11:7 Federal

V. PHOTOGRAPHIC AND RELATED FORMS OF EVIDENCE

- § 11:8 New York
- § 11:9 —Photographs
- § 11:10 —X-rays and analogous medical pictorial processes
- § 11:11 —Sound recordings
- § 11:12 —Motion pictures and videotapes
- § 11:13 Federal
- § 11:14 —Photographs
- § 11:15 —X-rays
- § 11:16 —Sound recordings
- $\S 11:17$ —Motion pictures and videotape

VI. EXPERIMENTS AND DEMONSTRATIONS

- § 11:18 New York
- § 11:19 Federal

VII. COMPUTER-GENERATED EVIDENCE

 $\S~11{:}20~$ Computer-generated evidence: New York and federal

VIII. JURY VIEWS

§ 11:21 New York

§ 11:22 Federal

IX. TAKING EXHIBITS INTO THE JURY ROOM; JURY EXPERIMENTATION

§ 11:23 New York

§ 11:24 Federal

Table of Laws and Rules

Table of Cases

Index

EVIDENCE IN NEW YORK STATE AND FEDERAL COURTS SECOND EDITION

Volume 5A

By

ROBERT A. BARKER VINCENT C. ALEXANDER



A Thomson Reuters business

For Customer Assistance Call 1-800-328-4880

© 2011 Thomson Reuters

For authorization to photocopy, please contact the **Copyright Clearance Center** at 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923, USA (978) 750-8400; fax (978) 646-8600 or **West's Copyright Services** at 610 Opperman Drive, Eagan, MN 55123, fax (651) 687-7551. Please outline the specific material involved, the number of copies you wish to distribute and the purpose or format of the use.

This publication was created to provide you with accurate and authoritative information concerning the subject matter covered; however, this publication was not necessarily prepared by persons licensed to practice law in a particular jurisdiction. The publisher is not engaged in rendering legal or other professional advice and this publication is not a substitute for the advice of an attorney. If you require legal or other expert advice, you should seek the services of a competent attorney or other professional.

This is Volume

5A

of

WEST'S NEW YORK PRACTICE SERIES

Walker, et al., New York Limited Li-Vol. 1 ability Companies and Partnerships: A Guide to Law and Practice Haig, et al., Commercial Litigation in Vols. 2-4D New York State Courts Vols. 5, 5A Barker and Alexander, Evidence in New York State and Federal Courts Greenberg, Marcus, et al., New York Vol. 6 Criminal Law Vol. 7 Marks, et al., New York Pretrial Criminal Procedure Vol. 8 Davies, Stecich, Gold, et al., New York Civil Appellate Practice Vols. 9, 9A Ginsberg, Weinberg, et al., Environmental Law and Regulation in New York

Vol. 10	Sobie, et al., New York Family Court Practice
Vols. 11-12	Scheinkman, et al., New York Law of Domestic Relations
Vol. 13	Taber, et al., Employment Litigation in New York
Vol. 13A	Stiller, Employment Law in New York
Vols. 14-16	Kreindler, Rodriguez, et al., New York Law of Torts
Vols. 20-25	Ostertag, Benson, et al., General Practice in New York
Vol. 26	Borchers, Markell, New York State Administrative Procedure and Practice
Vol. 27	Minkowitz, New York Workers' Compensation
Vol. 28	Banks, New York Contract Law
Vol. 29	Finley and Handelman, New York Summary Judgment and Related Termination Motions
Vol. 30	Merritt, New York Elements of an Action
Vol. 31	Payne and Wilson, New York Insurance Law
Vol. 33	Rubin, Biser and Brown, New York Construction Law Manual
Vol. 34	Bowmar, Mechanics' Liens in New York
Vol. 35	Ko and Taranto, Mortgage Liens in New York
Vol. 36	Ko, Lien Priorities in New York
Vol. A	Borges, et al., Enforcing Judgments and Collecting Debts in New York

WEST'S NEW YORK PRACTICE SERIES

Vols. B-C	Bensel, Frank, McKeon, et al., Personal Injury Practice in New York
Vols. D-E	Preminger, et al., Trusts and Estates Practice in New York
Vols. F-H	Finkelstein and Ferrara, Landlord and Tenant Practice in New York

Dedication

TO

Ellen, who has provided great support. R.A.B.

My wife Nancy. V.C.A.

Preface to Second Edition

This edition of the book, like its predecessor, presents New York evidence law in a modern analytical framework. It contains a complete exposition of the law of evidence in New York, followed by a summary of the corresponding law under the Federal Rules of Evidence. In the federal sections of the book, special emphasis is given to the rulings of the United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit. This parallel arrangement of state and federal law not only facilitates trial practice in both court systems but also provides a quick and ready source of potential guidance for the resolution of unsettled or evolving issues under New York law.

As it is, the law of evidence in New York consists of a mix of rules derived from caselaw, Article 45 of the Civil Practice Law and Rules (CPLR), Article 60 of the Criminal Procedure Law (CPL), and other scattered statutes and rules. For the most part, this edition eliminates comparisons to the proposed New York Evidence Code, which was last submitted to the Legislature during the 1991-1992 session. In the intervening years, the proposed Code has had little influence on the evolution of New York evidence law, and the Legislature has shown no interest in adopting the Code.

In this edition, we have incorporated material appearing in the annual pocket parts from 2001 to 2010 as well as new developments during 2011. The burgeoning decisional law, especially in the areas of expert testimony, hearsay, and the right of confrontation, has led us to revise and expand relevant sections of the book. In addition, the book contains all recent amendments to the Federal Rules of Evidence, including their restyling, which is expected to take effect December 1, 2011. The restyling is discussed in greater detail in § 1:1.

We are grateful to those who have assisted in the production of this edition. At Albany Law School, Sherri Meyer's secretarial services were invaluable, and equal appreciation is extended to Deborah Kelly, head of Secretarial Services at St. John's. Also at St. John's, Dean's Fellow Steven Saal provided outstanding research assistance.

Robert A. Barker Vincent C. Alexander

About the Authors

Robert A. Barker is Professor Emeritus of Law at Albany Law School, Union University. He is a former Associate Dean of the Law School and Executive Director of the New York State Law Revision Commission. He coordinated the original study and proposal for the New York Code of Evidence. For many years he authored the evidence article for the Annual Survey of New York Law. Additionally, for many years, he was a lecturer on evidence, with Dean Jerome Prince, at the annual New York State Judicial Seminars. He is co-author, with Oscar Chase, of *Civil Litigation in New York* (4th ed), and, for 13 years he wrote the New York Practice column for the *New York Law Journal*. Professor Barker received both his undergraduate and law degrees from Syracuse University.

Vincent C. Alexander is the Charles M. Sparacio Professor of Law at St. John's University School of Law. He is an author of the Practice Commentaries on the Civil Practice Law and Rules in McKinney's Consolidated Laws of New York Annotated and a frequent lecturer on Evidence and New York Practice for bar groups and judges. He is a former columnist on New York Practice for the New York Law Journal and former editor of the Second Circuit Redbook of the Federal Bar Council. Professor Alexander is a member of the Civil Practice Advisory Committee for the Chief Administrative Judge of the State of New York and former member of the state's Continuing Legal Education Board. He holds degrees from Yale University (B.A.), St. John's University (J.D.) and Columbia University (LL.M. and J.S.D.).

WestlawNext™

THE NEXT GENERATION OF ONLINE RESEARCH

WestlawNext is the world's most advanced legal research system. By leveraging more than a century of information and legal analysis from Westlaw, this easy-to-use system not only helps you find the information you need quickly, but offers time-saving tools to organize and annotate your research online. As with Westlaw.com, WestlawNext includes the editorial enhancements (e.g., case headnotes, topics, key numbers) that make it a perfect complement to West print resources.

- FIND ANYTHING by entering citations, descriptive terms, or Boolean terms and connectors into the WestSearch™ box at the top of every page.
- USE KEYCITE® to determine whether a case, statute, regulation, or administrative decision is good law.
- · BROWSE DATABASES right from the home page.
- · SAVE DOCUMENTS to folders and add notes and highlighting online.

SIGN ON: next.westlaw.com

LEARN MORE: West.Thomson.com/WestlawNext FOR HELP: 1–800–WESTLAW (1–800–937–8529)

*

Summary of Contents

Volume 5

Chapter 1.	General Principles
Chapter 2.	Judicial Notice
Chapter 3.	Burden of Proof and Presumptions
Chapter 4.	Relevancy
Chapter 5.	Privileges
Chapter 6.	Witnesses

Volume 5A

- Chapter 7. Opinions and Expert Testimony
- Chapter 8. Hearsay
- Chapter 9. Authentication & Identification
- Chapter 10. Best Evidence
- Chapter 11. Real and Demonstrative Evidence

Table of Laws and Rules

Table of Cases

Index

Volume 5

CHAPTER 1. GENERAL PRINCIPLES

I. INTRODUCTION

- § 1:1 Overview and organization of book
- § 1:2 Definitions: New York and Federal

II. RULINGS ON EVIDENCE

- § 1:3 New York
- § 1:4 —Objections and motions to strike
- § 1:5 —General vs. specific objections
- § 1:6 —Offer of proof and offer "to connect up"
- § 1:7 —Motions in limine
- § 1:8 —Harmless error
- § 1:9 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 103)
- § 1:10 —Objections and motions to strike
- § 1:11 —General vs. specific objections
- § 1:12 —Offer of proof and offer to "connect up"
- § 1:13 —Motions in limine
- § 1:14 —Harmless error

III. PRELIMINARY QUESTIONS

- § 1:15 New York
- § 1:16 —Respective responsibilities of judge and jury, in general
- § 1:17 —Admissions; confessions; illegally seized evidence; privileges
- § 1:18 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 104)

IV. LIMITED ADMISSIBILITY

- § 1:19 New York
- § 1:20 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 105)

V. RULE OF COMPLETENESS

- § 1:21 New York
- § 1:22 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 106)

CHAPTER 2. JUDICIAL NOTICE

I. INTRODUCTION

§ 2:1 Judicial notice, in general

II. JUDICIAL NOTICE OF ADJUDICATIVE FACTS

- § 2:2 New York
- § 2:3 —Facts subject to judicial notice
- § 2:4 —Examples
- § 2:5 —Procedure
- § 2:6 —Effect of taking judicial notice
- § 2:7 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 201)

III. JUDICIAL NOTICE OF LEGISLATIVE FACTS

§ 2:8 New York and Federal

IV. JUDICIAL NOTICE OF LAW

- § 2:9 New York
- § 2:10 Federal

CHAPTER 3. BURDEN OF PROOF AND PRESUMPTIONS

I. BURDEN OF PROOF

- § 3:1 Burden of proof, in general
- § 3:2 Allocation of burden of proof, in general
- § 3:3 Satisfying the burden of production
- § 3:4 —New York: test for sufficiency
- § 3:5 —New York: Shifting of the burden of production
- § 3:6 —Federal
- § 3:7 Satisfying the burden of persuasion
- § 3:8 —Civil cases: New York
- § 3:9 ——Preponderance of the evidence
- § 3:10 ——Clear and convincing evidence
- § 3:11 —Civil cases: federal
- § 3:12 —Criminal cases: New York
- $\S 3:13$ ——Reasonable doubt
- $\S 3:14$ ——Defenses and affirmative defenses
- § 3:15 —Criminal cases: federal

II. PRESUMPTIONS IN CIVIL CASES

§ 3:16 New York

- § 3:17 Meaning of a presumption
- § 3:18 Rebuttable presumptions
- § 3:19 Reasons for presumptions; illustrative presumptions
- § 3:20 Effect of presumptions in New York
- § 3:21 —Thayer (the "bursting bubble" rule)
- § 3:22 Morgan
- § 3:23 —New York approach
- § 3:24 Res ipsa loquitur
- § 3:25 Prima facie evidence
- § 3:26 Effect of presumptions in federal proceedings
- § 3:27 —Cases governed by federal law (Fed. R. Evid. 301)
- § 3:28 —Cases governed by state law (Fed. R. Evid. 302)

III. PRESUMPTIONS IN CRIMINAL CASES

- § 3:29 New York
- § 3:30 —Constitutional restraints
- § 3:31 —New York approach
- § 3:32 Federal

CHAPTER 4. RELEVANCY

I. INTRODUCTION

§ 4:1 New York and federal: introduction

II. RELEVANCY

A. NEW YORK

- § 4:2 Definition of relevance, generally
- § 4:3 Probability
- § 4:4 Specific applications—Flight and suppression of evidence
- § 4:5 —Failure to call witness
- § 4:6 —Missing documents
- § 4:7 —Third-party culpability
- § 4:8 Factors precluding admissibility of relevant evidence: prejudice and exclusionary rules

B. FEDERAL

§ 4:9 Federal Rules of Evidence 401, 402, 403

III. CHARACTER EVIDENCE

- § 4:10 New York
- § 4:11 —Character in issue

EVIDENCE IN NEW YORK STATE AND FEDERAL COURTS

- § 4:12 —Character evidence as proof of conduct in civil cases
- § 4:13 —Character evidence as proof of conduct in criminal cases
- § 4:14 —Effect of character evidence: jury charge
- § 4:15 —Character trait of the victim in a homicide case
- § 4:16 —Character evidence used to impeach, generally
- § 4:17 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 404, 405)

IV. UNCHARGED CRIMES

- § 4:18 New York
- § 4:19 —Motive
- § 4:20 —Intent
- § 4:21 —Absence of accident or mistake
- § 4:22 —Common scheme or plan
- § 4:23 —Identity
- § 4:24 —Background
- § 4:25 —Inextricably intertwined
- § 4:26 —Multiple counts
- § 4:27 —Sex cases: "amorous design"
- § 4:28 —Rebuttal
- § 4:29 —Civil cases
- § 4:30 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 404(b))
- § 4:31 —Generally
- § 4:32 —Procedure
- § 4:33 —Civil cases

V. SIMILAR OCCURRENCES

- § 4:34 New York
- § 4:35 —Other accidents
- § 4:36 —Other business transactions
- § 4:37 —Sales of property
- § 4:38 Federal—Other accidents
- § 4:39 —Other business transactions
- § 4:40 —Sales of property

VI. HABIT AND CUSTOM

- § 4:41 New York
- § 4:42 —Business and professional habit
- § 4:43 —Habit evidence in the workplace
- § 4:44 —Habit in negligence cases; non-workplace situations
- § 4:45 —Eyewitnesses
- § 4:46 —Custom and usage as a standard of care
- § 4:47 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 406)
- § 4:48 —Business and professional habit

- § 4:49 —Evidence of habit in negligence cases
- § 4:50 Federal—Custom and usage as a standard of care

VII. SUBSEQUENT REMEDIAL MEASURES

- § 4:51 New York
- § 4:52 —Negligence
- § 4:53 —Products liability
- § 4:54 —Feasibility exception
- § 4:55 —Ownership, control and impeachment
- § 4:56 —Criminal cases
- § 4:57 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 407)

VIII. COMPROMISES AND OFFERS TO COMPROMISE

- § 4:58 New York
- § 4:59 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 408)

IX. PAYMENT OF MEDICAL AND SIMILAR EXPENSES

- § 4:60 New York
- § 4:61 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 409)

X. PLEAS AND PLEA DISCUSSIONS

- § 4:62 New York
- § 4:63 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 410)

XI. LIABILITY INSURANCE

- § 4:64 New York
- § 4:65 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 411)

XII. SHIELD LAWS

- § 4:66 New York
- § 4:67 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 412)

XIII. DEFENDANT'S SEXUAL HISTORY

§ 4:68 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 413, 414, 415)

CHAPTER 5. PRIVILEGES

I. INTRODUCTION

§ 5:1 New York

§ 5:2 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 501)

II. ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGE AND WORK PRODUCT

- § 5:3 Attorney-client privilege: New York
- § 5:4 —Attorney-client relationship
- § 5:5 —Communications
- § 5:6 —Legal advice
- § 5:7 —Confidentiality
- § 5:8 —Application in the corporate and government context
- § 5:9 —Exceptions
- § 5:10 —Waiver
- § 5:11 Attorney-client privilege: Federal
- § 5:12 Work product immunities
- § 5:13 —New York
- § 5:14 ——Civil cases
- § 5:15 ——Criminal cases
- § 5:16 ——Waiver
- § 5:17 —Federal

III. PHYSICIAN-PATIENT AND RELATED PRIVILEGES

- § 5:18 New York
- § 5:19 —Scope of the physician-patient privilege
- § 5:20 —Waiver
- § 5:21 —Exceptions
- § 5:22 —Psychologists
- § 5:23 Federal

IV. SPOUSAL PRIVILEGES

- § 5:24 Spousal privileges: New York
- § 5:25 Incompetency in adultery cases
- § 5:26 Privilege for confidential communications
- § 5:27 —Confidentiality
- § 5:28 —Induced by the marital relationship
- § 5:29 —Communication made during the marriage
- § 5:30 —Waiver
- § 5:31 —Exceptions
- § 5:32 New York: parent-child privilege
- § 5:33 Spousal privileges: federal
- § 5:34 —Testimonial privilege
- § 5:35 —Marital communications privilege

V. COMMUNICATIONS WITH CLERGY PRIVILEGE

- § 5:36 New York
- § 5:37 Federal

VI. SOCIAL WORKER PRIVILEGE

- § 5:38 New York
- § 5:39 Federal

VII. RAPE CRISIS COUNSELOR

- § 5:40 New York
- § 5:41 Federal

VIII. LIBRARY RECORDS

- § 5:42 New York
- § 5:43 Federal

IX. JOURNALIST PRIVILEGE

- § 5:44 New York
- § 5:45 Federal

X. SELF-INCRIMINATION

- § 5:46 New York State and federal—Civil cases
- § 5:47 —Criminal proceedings
- § 5:48 ——Testimony
- § 5:49 ——Documents
- § 5:50 —Application of the privilege during the investigation stage: connection to the trial

XI. THE INFORMER PRIVILEGE

- § 5:51 New York
- § 5:52 Federal

XII. GOVERNMENT COMMUNICATIONS

- § 5:53 New York
- § 5:54 Federal

XIII. POLITICAL VOTE

- § 5:55 New York
- § 5:56 Federal

XIV. TRADE SECRETS

§ 5:57 New York

§ 5:58 Federal rule

XV. COMMENT UPON OR INFERENCE FROM CLAIM OF PRIVILEGE

- § 5:59 New York
- § 5:60 Federal

CHAPTER 6. WITNESSES

I. INTRODUCTION

§ 6:1 Overview

II. GENERAL RULE OF COMPETENCY

- § 6:2 New York
- § 6:3 —Interest
- § 6:4 —Spouses of parties
- § 6:5 —Convictions
- § 6:6 —Children
- § 6:7 —Mental, sensory or communicative infirmities
- § 6:8 —Alcohol and drugs
- § 6:9 —Hypnotically induced memory
- § 6:10 New York Dead Man's Statute
- § 6:11 —Disqualified witnesses
- § 6:12 —Protected persons
- § 6:13 —Prohibited subject matter
- § 6:14 —Exceptions
- § 6:15 —Waiver
- § 6:16 —Inapplicability before trial
- § 6:17 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 601)

III. PERSONAL KNOWLEDGE

- § 6:18 New York
- § 6:19 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 602)

IV. OATH OR AFFIRMATION

- § 6:20 New York
- § 6:21 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 603)

V. INTERPRETERS

- § 6:22 New York
- § 6:23 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 604)

VI.	JUDGE'S	COMPETENCY	AS WITNESS

- § 6:24 New York
- § 6:25 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 605)

VII. JUROR'S COMPETENCY AS WITNESS

- § 6:26 New York
- § 6:27 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 606)

VIII. IMPEACHMENT AND REHABILITATION OF WITNESSES

- § 6:28 Credibility of witness: New York and federal
- § 6:29 Impeachment of witness, in general: New York and federal
- § 6:30 Contradiction; collateral and noncollateral matters: New York and federal
- § 6:31 Impeachment of one's own witness
- § 6:32 —New York, in general
- § 6:33 —New York exception for prior inconsistent statements
- § 6:34 —Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 607)
- § 6:35 Support and rehabilitation of credibility of witness
- § 6:36 —New York
- § 6:37 ——Advance accreditation
- § 6:38 ——Rehabilitation
- § 6:39 ———Explanation
- § 6:40 ———Good character for truthfulness
- § 6:41 ———Prior consistent statements
- § 6:42 —Federa
- § 6:43 Impeachment by bias and similar forms of partiality
- § 6:44 —New York
- § 6:45 —Federal
- § 6:46 Impeachment by mental or sensory impairment
- § 6:47 —New York
- § 6:48 —Federal
- § 6:49 Impeachment by prior inconsistent statements
- § 6:50 —New York
- § 6:51 ——Nature of the inconsistency
- § 6:52 ——Foundation requirements; extrinsic evidence
- § 6:53 —Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 613)

IX. IMPEACHMENT BY EVIDENCE OF UNTRUTHFUL CHARACTER AND PRIOR MISCONDUCT

§ 6:54 In general

§ 6:55 Bad character for truthfulness
 § 6:56 —New York
 § 6:57 —Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 608(a))
 § 6:58 Prior acts of misconduct
 § 6:59 —New York
 § 6:60 —Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 608(b))

X. IMPEACHMENT BY EVIDENCE OF CRIMINAL CONVICTIONS

- § 6:61 New York
- § 6:62 —Civil cases
- § 6:63 —Criminal cases
- § 6:64 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 609)

XI. RELIGIOUS BELIEFS OR OPINIONS

- § 6:65 New York
- § 6:66 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 610)

XII. PRESENTATION OF TESTIMONY

- § 6:67 New York
- § 6:68 —Order of trial and presentation of testimony
- § 6:69 —Form of questioning
- § 6:70 ——Leading questions
- § 6:71 —Cross-examination
- § 6:72 ——Scope of cross-examination
- § 6:73 ——Judicial discretion
- § 6:74 ——Voir dire of the witness
- § 6:75 —Redirect and recross examination
- § 6:76 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 611)
- § 6:77 —Order of trial
- § 6:78 —Form of questioning
- § 6:79 —Cross-examination, redirect and recross

XIII. REFRESHING THE WITNESS' RECOLLECTION

- § 6:80 New York
- § 6:81 —Adversary's right of inspection
- § 6:82 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 612)

XIV. CALLING AND QUESTIONING OF WITNESSES BY THE COURT OR JURY

§ 6:83 New York

- § 6:84 —Calling of witnesses by the court
- § 6:85 —Judicial questioning of witnesses
- § 6:86 —Questioning by jurors
- § 6:87 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 614)

XV. EXCLUSION OF WITNESSES FROM THE COURTROOM

- § 6:88 New York
- § 6:89 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 615)

Volume 5A

CHAPTER 7. OPINIONS AND EXPERT TESTIMONY

I. OPINION TESTIMONY: INTRODUCTION

§ 7:1 New York and federal

II. OPINION TESTIMONY BY LAY WITNESSES

- § 7:2 New York
- § 7:3 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 701)

III. EXPERT TESTIMONY

- § 7:4 New York
- § 7:5 —Novel scientific theories and methods
- § 7:6 —Recurring problems of expert testimony
- § 7:7 —"Interested observer"
- § 7:8 —Qualifications
- § 7:9 —Impeachment of experts
- § 7:10 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 702)
- § 7:11 —Judicial scrutiny of reliability under *Daubert* and *Kumho*

IV. BASIS OF EXPERT OPINION TESTIMONY

- § 7:12 New York
- § 7:13 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 703)

V. OPINION ON ULTIMATE ISSUES

- § 7:14 New York
- § 7:15 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 704)

VI. DISCLOSURE OF FACTS AND DATA UNDERLYING EXPERT OPINION

- § 7:16 New York
- § 7:17 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 705)

VII. COURT-APPOINTED EXPERTS

- § 7:18 New York
- § 7:19 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 706)

CHAPTER 8. HEARSAY

I. HEARSAY, NEW YORK AND FEDERAL— GENERALLY

A. INTRODUCTION

- § 8:1 Nature of hearsay: New York and federal (Fed. R. Evid. 801)
- § 8:2 —Assertions
- § 8:3 —Legally operative words (verbal acts)
- § 8:4 —State of mind
- § 8:5 —Indirect hearsay
- § 8:6 The right to confrontation—The *Crawford* rule, New York and Federal

B. STATEMENTS CODIFIED AS "NOT HEARSAY"

1. Introduction

- § 8:7 Generally
 - 2. New York
- § 8:8 Inconsistent statements of a witness
- § 8:9 Prior consistent statements of a witness

3. Federal

- \S 8:10 Inconsistent statements of a witenss (Fed. R. Evid. 801(d)(1)(A))
- § 8:11 Prior consistent statements of a witness (Fed. R. Evid. 801(d)(1)(B))

C. PRIOR IDENTIFICATION

- § 8:12 New York—Witness' prior identification of a person
- \$ 8:13 Federal—Witness' prior identification of a person (Fed. R. Evid. 801(d)(1)(C))

II. ADMISSIONS

§ 8:14 New York and federal: introduction

- § 8:15 Party's statement: New York
- § 8:16 —Admission by a party's conduct
- § 8:17 —Admissions by silence
- § 8:18 —Privity
- § 8:19 —Representative capacity
- § 8:20 —Adoptive admissions
- § 8:21 —Statements by the party's agent or servant
- § 8:22 —Coconspirator's statements
- § 8:23 Party's statement: federal (Fed. R. Evid. 801(d)(2))
- § 8:24 Party's statement: federal—Judicial admissions
- § 8:25 —Admissions by a party, by statements, acts, adoption or in a representative capacity
- § 8:26 —Statements made by an agent or servant, and statements otherwise authorized
- § 8:27 —Coconspirator's statements

III. HEARSAY EXCEPTIONS WHERE AVAILABILITY OF THE DECLARANT IS IMMATERIAL

A. OVERVIEW

- § 8:28 New York and federal, in general
 - B. SPONTANEOUS STATEMENTS, STATEMENTS EVIDENCING A STATE OF MIND OR PHYSICAL CONDITION, AND STATEMENTS MADE FOR PURPOSES OF MEDICAL DIAGNOSIS OR TREATMENT
- § 8:29 New York
- § 8:30 —Present sense impression
- § 8:31 —Excited utterance
- § 8:32 —State of mind or physical condition (Fed. R. Evid. 803)
- § 8:33 —Statements made for purposes of medical treatment or diagnosis
- § 8:34 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 803)
- § 8:35 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 803(1))—Present sense impression
- § 8:36 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 803(2))—Excited utterance
- § 8:37 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 803(3))—State of mind or physical condition
- § 8:38 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 803(4))—Statements made for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment

C. RECORDED RECOLLECTION

§ 8:39 New York

§ 8:40 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 803(5))

D. REGULARLY KEPT RECORDS

- § 8:41 New York—Business records: general principles
- § 8:42 —Agency documents offered by the prosecution in criminal cases
- § 8:43 —Hospital records, government records, and other records admissible upon certification
- § 8:44 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 803(6))

E. ABSENCE OF RECORD

- § 8:45 New York—Absence of business records
- § 8:46 —Absence of public record
- § 8:47 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 803(7))—Absence of business record

F. PUBLIC RECORDS

- § 8:48 New York
- § 8:49 —Common law exception for public records
- § 8:50 —Certificate of public officer (CPLR 4520)
- § 8:51 —Investigatory reports made by government agencies
- § 8:52 —Ancient maps and real property records
- § 8:53 —Records of sister state real property conveyances
- § 8:54 —Marriage certificates
- § 8:55 —Presumption of death or of being missing
- § 8:56 —Birth and death certificates
- § 8:57 —Weather records
- § 8:58 —Agriculture inspection certificates
- § 8:59 —Certificate of population
- § 8:60 —Surveyor's standard
- § 8:61 —Justice of the peace proceedings
- § 8:62 —Certified report of absence of public record
- § 8:63 —Criminal judgments of conviction
- § 8:64 —Records of religious organizations
- § 8:65 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 803(8))—Public records, in general
- § 8:66 —Vital statistics
- § 8:67 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 803(14) and 803(15))—Documents affecting interests in property
- § 8:68 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 803(22) and 803(23))—Judgment of previous conviction; judgment as proof of family history and boundaries
- § 8:69 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 803(10))—Absence of public record
- § 8:70 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 803(11) and 803(12))—Records of religious organizations

G. LEARNED TREATISES, MARKET REPORTS AND COMMERCIAL PUBLICATIONS

- § 8:71 New York
- § 8:72 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 803(18))

H. ANCIENT DOCUMENTS, AND REPUTATION

1. New York

- § 8:73 Family records
- § 8:74 —Ancient documents
- § 8:75 —Reputation

2. Federal

- § 8:76 Family records (Fed. R. Evid. 803(13))
- § 8:77 Ancient documents (Fed. R. Evid. 803(16))
- § 8:78 Reputation (Fed. R. Evid. 803(19)–(21))

IV. HEARSAY STATEMENTS ADMISSIBLE IF DECLARANT UNAVAILABLE

A. OVERVIEW

§ 8:79 Unavailability: New York and federal

B. FORMER TESTIMONY

- § 8:80 New York
- § 8:81 —Civil cases
- § 8:82 —Criminal cases
- § 8:83 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 804(b)(1))

C. DYING DECLARATIONS

- § 8:84 New York
- § 8:85 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 804(b)(2))

D. DECLARATIONS AGAINST INTEREST

- § 8:86 New York
- § 8:87 —Civil cases
- § 8:88 —Criminal cases
- § 8:89 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 804(b)(3))

E. PEDIGREE

- § 8:90 New York
- § 8:91 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 804(b)(4))

F. RESIDUAL HEARSAY EXCEPTION

- § 8:92 New York
- § 8:93 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 807)

V. HEARSAY WITHIN HEARSAY

- § 8:94 New York
- § 8:95 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 805)

VI. ATTACKING AND SUPPORTING DECLARANT'S CREDIBILITY

§ 8:96 New York and federal (Fed. R. Evid. 806)

VII. ADMISSIBILITY OF HEARSAY WHERE PARTY CAUSES DECLARANT'S UNAVAILABILITY

§ 8:97 New York and federal (Fed. R. Evid. 804(b)(6))

CHAPTER 9. AUTHENTICATION & IDENTIFICATION

I. INTRODUCTION

§ 9:1 Authentication and identification in general: New York and federal

II. COMMON INSTANCES REQUIRING AUTHENTICATION OR IDENTIFICATION

- A. INTRODUCTION
- § 9:2 Introduction: common instances
 - B. TESTIMONY OF WITNESS WITH KNOWLEDGE
- § 9:3 New York
- § 9:4 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 901(b)(1))

C. LAY OPINION ON HANDWRITING

- § 9:5 New York
- § 9:6 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 901(b)(2))

D. COMPARISONS BY TRIER OR EXPERT WITNESS

§ 9:7 New York

§ 9:8 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 901(b)(3))

E. CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE OF AUTHENTICITY

- § 9:9 New York
- § 9:10 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 901(b)(4))

F. VOICE IDENTIFICATION

- § 9:11 New York
- § 9:12 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 901(b)(5))

G. TELEPHONE CONVERSATIONS

- § 9:13 New York
- § 9:14 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 901(b)(6))

H. PUBLIC RECORDS

- § 9:15 New York
- § 9:16 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 901(b)(7))

I. ANCIENT DOCUMENTS

- § 9:17 New York
- § 9:18 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 901(b)(8))

J. PROCESS OR SYSTEM

- § 9:19 New York
- § 9:20 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 901(b)(9))

K. METHODS PROVIDED BY STATUTE OR RULE

- § 9:21 New York
- § 9:22 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 901(b)(10))

III. SELF-AUTHENTICATION

- § 9:23 Self-authentication
- $\$ 9:24 —New York
- § 9:25 —Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 902)

IV. SUBSCRIBING WITNESSES

§ 9:26 Subscribing witnesses: New York and federal (Fed. R. Evid. 903)

CHAPTER 10. BEST EVIDENCE

I. BEST EVIDENCE

- § 10:1 Best evidence rule: New York and federal
- § 10:2 —Federal Rule of Evidence 1001: definitions

II. ORIGINALS

§ 10:3 Originals: New York and federal (Fed. R. Evid. 1002)

III. DUPLICATES

§ 10:4 Duplicates: New York and federal (Fed. R. Evid. 1003)

IV. SECONDARY EVIDENCE

- § 10:5 Secondary evidence: New York and federal (Fed. R. Evid. 1004)
- § 10:6 —Loss or destruction
- § 10:7 —Original not obtainable
- § 10:8 —Original in possession of opponent
- § 10:9 —Collateral matters

V. PUBLIC RECORDS

- § 10:10 New York
- § 10:11 Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 1005)

VI. SUMMARIES

- § 10:12 Summaries: New York
- § 10:13 Summaries: Federal (Fed. R. Evid. 1006)

VII. TESTIMONY OR WRITTEN ADMISSION OF PARTY

§ 10:14 Admission as to contents: New York and federal (Fed. R. Evid. 1007)

VIII. FUNCTIONS OF COURT AND JURY

- § 10:15 New York
- § 10:16 Federal

CHAPTER 11. REAL AND DEMONSTRATIVE EVIDENCE

I. INTRODUCTION

§ 11:1 Real and demonstrative evidence, in general: New York and federal

II. TANGIBLE OBJECTS

- § 11:2 New York
- § 11:3 Federal

III. PERSONS: PHYSICAL FEATURES, INJURIES AND THEIR EFFECTS

- § 11:4 New York
- § 11:5 Federal

IV. DRAWINGS, DIAGRAMS, AND MODELS

- § 11:6 New York
- § 11:7 Federal

V. PHOTOGRAPHIC AND RELATED FORMS OF EVIDENCE

- § 11:8 New York
- § 11:9 —Photographs
- § 11:10 —X-rays and analogous medical pictorial processes
- § 11:11 —Sound recordings
- § 11:12 —Motion pictures and videotapes
- § 11:13 Federal
- § 11:14 —Photographs
- § 11:15 —X-rays
- § 11:16 —Sound recordings
- $\S 11:17$ —Motion pictures and videotape

VI. EXPERIMENTS AND DEMONSTRATIONS

- § 11:18 New York
- § 11:19 Federal

VII. COMPUTER-GENERATED EVIDENCE

 $\S~11{:}20~$ Computer-generated evidence: New York and federal

VIII. JURY VIEWS

§ 11:21 New York

§ 11:22 Federal

IX. TAKING EXHIBITS INTO THE JURY ROOM; JURY EXPERIMENTATION

§ 11:23 New York

§ 11:24 Federal

Table of Laws and Rules

Table of Cases

Index